BYLAWS

FITCHBURG STATE UNIVERSITY

BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Approved As Revised October 4, 2000

ARTICLE I. ORGANIZATION AND OFFICERS OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1. Composition and Functions of the Board

The composition, functions, duties, powers and responsibilities of the Board of Trustees, its committees, or subcommittees, shall be as provided and authorized by the laws of the Commonwealth as in effect from time to time, subject to such rules, regulations, policies, or guidelines as the Board of Higher Education may, from time to time, adopt, or repeal for the management, control, administration, or regulation of the system of public higher education, or any part thereof.

Section 2. Officers of the Board

The officers shall consist of a Chair, a Vice Chair, and a Secretary.

Such officers shall be elected by the Board of Trustees at its annual meeting upon nomination by the Nominating Committee as provided in Article III, section 5, or otherwise, and they shall hold office until the next annual meeting or until their respective successors are elected.

Section 3. Duties of the Officers

- A. The *Chair* of the Board of Trustees shall have the following duties:
 - 1. To preside at all meetings of the Board of Trustees.
 - 2. To call special meetings of the Board of Trustees.
 - 3. To serve ex-offcio, with voting power, as a member of all standing committees of the Board of Trustees.
 - 4. To appoint all standing committees, a Nominating Committee and other special committees of the Board of Trustees.
- B. The *Vice Chair* of the Board of Trustees shall have the following duties:
 - To perform the duties of the Chair of the Board of Trustees at his request or in case of his absence or incapacity.
- C. The Secretary of the Board of Trustees shall have the following duties:
 - 1. Record the proceedings of the Board of Trustees and of each standing and special committee thereof in a book or books to be kept therefore.

- 2. Preserve all documents, papers, and records determined by the Board of Trustees to be a part of the official records of the University.
- 3. Perform duties, not inconsistent with those prescribed by these Bylaws or by the Board of Trustees, or as prescribed from time to time by the Chair of the Board.

Section 4. The President of the University

The President of the University shall serve in a non-voting capacity as the Clerk to the Board and all of its committees. In this function the President must be present at all regular and special meetings including Executive Sessions of the Board. The President shall, further, assist the Board's Secretary in the performance of the Secretary's duties.

Section 5. Associate of the Board

Serving the Board as an Associate shall be an **Assistant Clerk**. The Assistant Clerk of the Board of Trustees shall:

Assist the Secretary in the recording of the proceedings of the Board of Trustees and perform the duties of the Secretary in the event of the Absence or illness of the Secretary upon request of the Chairman of the Board of Trustees or the President of the University.

ARTICLE II. MEETINGS OF THE BOARD

Section 1. Regular and Annual Meetings

There shall be four meetings a year of the Board of Trustees of Fitchburg State University in the months of May, October, January, and March, with the first being the organizational meeting. Ordinarily, the meetings will be held on the first Tuesday of each of these months. The Board shall, however, set the date and time of each meeting at least one month in advance.

Section 2. Special Meetings

Special meetings of the Board may be held at any time and at any place when called:

a. By the Chair of the Board of Trustees, or

- b. By the President of the University, or
- c. By petition of any five Trustees given in writing to the Secretary.

Section 3. Notice of Meetings

Written notice of each regular meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be given to each Trustee at least five (5) days prior to the date fixed for the meeting. Notice of special meetings shall be given to each Trustee at least three (3) days prior to the meeting day. Notices shall state the time and place of the meeting and, as to special meetings the purposes for which it has been called.

Section 4. Agenda of Regular Board Meetings

A written agenda of matters to be considered at each regular meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be sent to each Trustee at least five (5) days prior to the date fixed for said meeting.

Items to be included in the agenda for a regular meeting shall be submitted in writing by:

- a. Recommendation of a standing or other committee of the Board of Trustees.
- b. The Chair of the Board of Trustees.
- c. The President of the University.

No item shall be included in the agenda for a regular meeting except upon recommendation by a standing or other committee of the Board of Trustees; the Chair of the Board of Trustees or the President of the University; provided that at any regular meeting any Trustee upon majority vote of said Board, shall be entitled to present matters to the Board of Trustees for its consideration without prior reference to a committee.

Unless otherwise determined by the Chair of the Board of Trustees, the following shall be the order of business at meetings of the Board of Trustees:

- I. Call to Order
- II. Consideration of Minutes of Prior Meeting
- III. Reports of Standing Committees

- IV. Reports of Special Committees including Nominating Committee
- V. Presidential Agenda
 - 1. President's Comments
 - 2. Comments by University Staff at Invitation of President
- VI. Status of Pending Actions
- VII. Other Business

Section 5. Quorum

The number of Trustees necessary to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business shall be a majority of the voting members but a lesser number may adjourn any meeting from time to time, and such meetings may be held as adjourned without further notice. When a quorum is present at any meeting, a majority of the Trustees present may take action on behalf of the Trustees unless a larger number is required by other provisions of these Bylaws. By vote of a majority of Trustees present any meeting may be recessed.

Section 6. Executive Sessions

By vote of a majority of the Trustees present at any meeting, the Board may enter into executive session, closed to the public. The vote shall be taken by roll call and the purpose of the session and reasons why it is to be confidential shall be announced in advantage of the vote. The presiding officer shall state before the executive session if the Board will reconvene after the executive session. The Board shall maintain accurate records of its executive sessions, setting forth the date, time, place, members present or absent and action taken at each executive session. The records of any executive session may remain secret as long as publication may defeat the lawful purpose of the executive session, but no longer. All votes taken in executive session shall be recorded votes and shall become a part of the record of said executive session. Upon request of any member of the Board, any vote taken in its executive session shall be verified by a roll call.

Executive sessions may be held only for the following purposes:

a. To discuss the reputation and character, physical condition or mental health rather than the professional competence of an individual. An open meeting shall be held if the individual involved requests in writing that the meeting be open.

- b. To consider the discipline or dismissal of, or to hear complaints or charges brought against an officer, employee, or individual. An open meeting shall be held if the individual involved requests in writing that the meeting be open.
- c. To discuss strategy with respect to collective bargaining or litigation if an open meeting may have a detrimental impact on the bargaining or litigating position of the University.
- d. To discuss the deployment of security personnel or devices.
- e. To consider allegations of criminal misconduct.
- f. To consider the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property, if such discussions may have a detrimental effect on the negotiating position of the University and a person, firm or corporation.
- g. To comply with the provisions of any general or special law or federal grant-inaid requirements.
- h. To consider the award of honorary degrees.

ARTICLE III. COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Section 1. Standing Committees

There shall be five standing committees of the Board of Trustees:

- a. Academic Affairs
- b. Student Life
- c. Administration and Finance
- d. Personnel
- e. Executive Committee

A. Committee on Academic Affairs

The Committee on Academic Affairs shall have the following powers and duties:

- To consider policies regarding the quality, character, and extent of instruction and research at the University, including policies governing admission requirements, programs of instruction, curriculum, degrees, public service activities, and research, and to make recommendations to the Board of Trustees with respect thereto.
- 2. To consider policies relates to the educational purposes and

responsibilities of the University and evaluate the same on a long-range basis, and to make recommendations to the Board of Trustees with respect thereto.

3. To advise the President on any matter within the scope of the Committee's duties.

B. Committee on Student Life

The Committee on Student Life shall have the following powers and duties:

To consult with the President and consider and recommend to the Board of Trustees for action, matters pertaining to student life and activity, student Government, and the health and well being of the student body.

C. Committee on Administration and Finance

The Committee on Administration and Finance shall have the following powers and duties:

To inquire into all fiscal affairs of the University, to consult with the President, and to consider and recommend to the Board of Trustees for action matters relative to the general administrative service functions and the fiscal and budgetary requirements and operation of the University, and those policies and other matters pertaining to the physical properties of the University, including all buildings, land acquisition and transfer, landscape plans, and developments and construction.

D. Committee on Personnel

The Committee on Personnel shall have the following powers and duties:

To consult with the President and consider and recommend to the Board of Trustees for action, matters relative to the personnel needs of the University.

E. The Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall have the following powers and duties:

- 1. To act upon matters referred to it by the President of the University, when prompt action is necessary.
- 2. To consider and act upon proposals referred by the Board of Trustees.

Section 2. Members of the Standing Committee

Each standing committee shall have such number of members, not fewer than three (3) as shall be appointed by the Chair of the Board at the close of the annual meeting and the Chair of each standing committee shall be elected by the Committee at its first meeting. The Chair of the Board of Trustees and the President of the University shall also be members of each standing committee. Each trustee must be a member of at least one committee.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive Committee shall be composed of the Chair of the Board of Trustees, the President of the University, and the Chair of the standing committees.

Section 3. Meetings of the Standing Committees

Meetings of standing committees may be held at any time and at any place when called by the Chair of the Committee, the Chair of the Board of Trustees, or a majority of the voting members of the committee.

Written notice of each committee meeting shall be given to each Trustee at least five (5) days prior to the meeting date. Notices shall state the time, place and purpose of the meeting.

Section 4. Agenda of Committee of the Board

A written agenda of matters to be considered at each meeting of a committee of the Board of Trustees shall be sent to each committee member at least five (5) days prior to the date of the meeting. Items to be included on committee agendas shall be submitted in writing by

- a. The President of the University or
- b. Any Trustee

Section 5. Nominating and Other Special Committees

There shall be a Nominating Committee of the Board of Trustees appointed in March of each year serving until the next meeting. The Nominating Committee shall present at the annual meeting nominees for the posts of Chair, Vice Chair, and Secretary.

The Board of Trustees may establish other special committees from time to time to have such duties as it may determine.

ARTICLE IV. MISCELLANEOUS

These Bylaws may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Trustees by a two-thirds vote of the members present, due notice of such amendment having been given in the call to the meeting.